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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

9:16 a.m.: 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: The next case i s Case 

12,161. This i s a de novo hearing on the A p p l i c a t i o n of 

Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation f o r a u n i t agreement i n 

Catron County, New Mexico. This A p p l i c a t i o n i s being heard 

de novo on the a p p l i c a t i o n of Gary L. Kiehne, I guess i s 

how you pronounce h i s name, and I understand we have some 

b r i e f comments from the p a r t i e s on t h i s p a r t i c u l a r case 

t h i s morning? 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, Madame Chair, my name i s Jim 

Bruce of Santa Fe. I'm representing the A p p l i c a n t , 

Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Commission, my name 

i s W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe law f i r m Campbell, 

Carr, Berge and Sheridan. We represent Gary L. Kiehne. 

MR. BRUCE: Madame Chair, Ridgeway Arizona — I 

j u s t have a b r i e f statement t o make about t h i s case, and I 

t h i n k i t can then be taken under advisement. 

Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation i s the primary 

lessee of a carbon d i o x i d e r e s e r v o i r which covers 

approximately a quarter m i l l i o n acres of land s t r a d d l i n g 

the Arizona/New Mexico border. 

Ridgeway has sought t o u n i t i z e t h i s land and 

r e a l l y d e s i r e d , or desires, t o form a s i n g l e u n i t but was 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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impeded i n t h i s e f f o r t by the slowness of the Arizona State 

Land Department. As a r e s u l t , Ridgeway proceeded t o form a 

New Mexico u n i t . However, when i t began t h a t process i t 

was i n i t i a l l y requested by the Bureau of Land Management t o 

i n c l u d e c e r t a i n Arizona f e d e r a l lands i n the u n i t , c e r t a i n 

contiguous Arizona f e d e r a l lands. Ridgeway d i d so, and the 

c u r r e n t A p p l i c a t i o n before you r e f l e c t s t h a t e f f o r t . 

However, the Arizona BLM has now changed i t s mind 

and requests t h a t the Arizona f e d e r a l lands not be included 

w i t h New Mexico lands i n a u n i t . 

As a r e s u l t , Ridgeway requests t h a t the Order 

issued by the D i v i s i o n be amended t o cover New Mexico lands 

only and t h a t the Commission approve the Cottonwood Canyon 

u n i t area as so amended. 

The only change t o the e x h i b i t s presented t o the 

Hearing Examiner w i l l be the land p l a t and lease 

d e s c r i p t i o n s , which were attached t o the u n i t agreement, i n 

order t o excise the Arizona lands. These are not 

completely ready y e t , so at t h i s time I would request t h a t 

you i n c o r p o r a t e the record from the D i v i s i o n and t h a t the 

recor d be held open f o r approximately t e n days so t h a t I 

may submit the r e v i s e d e x h i b i t s , and t h a t the Commission 

then take t h i s matter under advisement and approve a s o l e l y 

New Mexico u n i t . 

Thank you. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you. 

Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Commission, a t the 

time of the Examiner hearing, Mr. Kiehne appeared and 

opposed the i n c l u s i o n of Arizona acreage i n the New Mexico 

u n i t . I f the u n i t i s now formed t o include — t o a c t u a l l y 

break the r e s e r v o i r on the Arizona/New Mexico l i n e , as Mr. 

Bruce has proposed, Mr. Kiehne no longer has an o b j e c t i o n 

t o i t . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. Carr. 

Okay, I j u s t want t o make sure I understand Mr. 

Bruce. We'll be g e t t i n g some a d d i t i o n a l m a t e r i a l s — 

MR. BRUCE: That w i l l — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — w i t h i n the next t e n days 

t h a t w i l l amend the u n i t agreement t o exclude the — 

MR. BRUCE: — Arizona lands — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — Arizona lands. 

MR. BRUCE: — and w i l l c o n t a i n only New Mexico 

s t a t e , f e d e r a l and fee lands. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Okay. And a t t h a t p o i n t — 

Does t h i s need t o come back t o the Commission, or i s t h i s 

something t h a t we can handle a t the D i v i s i o n l e v e l a t t h a t 

p o i n t , amend the u n i t agreement? 

MS. HEBERT: It's on de novo to the Commission, 

so you could even — you could either withdraw your de novo 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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request and have i t amended a t the D i v i s i o n l e v e l — 

MR. BRUCE: Well, i t ' s B i l l ' s de novo request. 

MR. CARR: I f the u n i t i s formed a t the boundary 

of t h e s t a t e l i n e , we have no o b j e c t i o n . We would withdraw 

our request f o r de novo hearing i f t h a t w i l l f a c i l i t a t e i t . 

We j u s t don't want t o waive our r i g h t i f a l l of a sudden we 

have a u n i t which doesn't break r i g h t on the — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: I understand, okay. So i f 

we get those m a t e r i a l s excluding the Arizona p r o p e r t i e s , 

then I t h i n k a t t h a t p o i n t we could probably dismiss the de 

novo A p p l i c a t i o n and then — 

MR. CARR: And when I get — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — amend the order a t the 

D i v i s i o n l e v e l , and get i t done w i t h i n a matter of a couple 

weeks, probably. 

MR. CARR: And when I receive a proposal w i t h the 

new boundary, I ' l l be happy t o immediately withdraw the de 

novo A p p l i c a t i o n . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you. Thank you very 

much. 

Mr. Bruce — Oh, I'm sorr y . 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: Do you in t e n d t o get 

p r e l i m i n a r y approval from the State Land O f f i c e — 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, we do. 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: — before you go t o the 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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D i v i s i o n — 

MR. BRUCE: Yes, we do. 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: — the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n ? 

MR. BRUCE: We have been, or — Don Riggs of 

Ridgeway, Arizona, has been i n contact w i t h Pete Martinez 

of the State Land O f f i c e . I w i l l send over a l e t t e r today. 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, I apologize. 

Yeah, a l l of our orders are — yeah, they're t o 

r e f l e c t t h a t need. 

Okay, thank you. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

9:21 a.m.) 

* * * 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

9:35 a.m.: 

EXAMINER STOGNER: This hearing w i l l come t o 

order again. I ' l l c a l l now Case Number 12,161. 

MR. CARROLL: A p p l i c a t i o n of Ridgeway Arizona O i l 

Corporation f o r a u n i t agreement, Catron County, New 

Mexico. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: C a l l f o r appearances. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, Jim Bruce of Santa Fe 

rep r e s e n t i n g the Appl i c a n t . I have two witnesses t o be 

sworn. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other appearances? 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, my name i s 

W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe law f i r m Campbell, Carr, 

Berge and Sheridan. We represent Gary Kiehne i n t h i s 

matter, and I do not have a witness. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: W i l l the witnesses please 

stand t o be sworn in? 

(Thereupon, the witnesses were sworn.) 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Gentlemen, are t h e r e need f o r 

opening remarks? 

MR. CARROLL: We've got a motion. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: There i s a motion, I 

understand. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, we f i l e d a 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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motion seeking a six-week continuance t o a f f o r d Mr. Kiehne 

a d d i t i o n a l time t o prepare. By v i r t u e of the f a c t t h a t 

we're a l l here, i t seems t o me t h a t i t i s probably 

a p p r o p r i a t e t o go forward w i t h the hearing. I f i n the 

course of the testimony i t appears t h a t t h e r e i s a need t o 

request a f u r t h e r continuance, we would reserve the r i g h t 

t o do so a t the end of the hearing. But a t t h i s p o i n t i n 

time i t seems t o me w i t h everyone here we should go 

forward. 

MR. BRUCE: I don't have a need f o r an opening 

statement, Mr. Examiner. 

MR. CARR: Nor do I . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

JOHN M. RICHARDSON, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. W i l l you please s t a t e your name and where you 

re s i d e f o r the Examiner? 

A. My name i s John Michael Richardson, and I re s i d e 

i n Stanley, New Mexico. 

Q. And what i s your occupation? 

A. I'm an independent petroleum landman. 

Q. What i s your r e l a t i o n s h i p t o the Applicant? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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A. I'm a c o n t r a c t landman f o r Ridgeway Arizona O i l 

Corporation. 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the 

Di v i s i o n ? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. Would you describe your educational and 

employment h i s t o r y f o r the Examiner? 

A. I attended the College of the Ozarks i n Point 

Lookout, M i s s o u r i , f o r three and a h a l f years, where I was 

an agribusiness major. I've had about 2 2 years' experience 

as an independent landman, and I became a c e r t i f i e d landman 

i n J u l y of 1986. 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the land matters i n v o l v e d 

i n t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n ? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And i n f a c t , have you done the vast bulk of the 

land work f o r Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation on t h i s 

p a r t i c u l a r p r o j e c t ? 

A. Yes, I have. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d tender Mr. 

Richardson as an expert petroleum landman. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objection? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Richardson i s so 

q u a l i f i e d . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 
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Q. (By Mr. Bruce) B r i e f l y , Mr. Richardson, what 

does the A p p l i c a n t seek i n t h i s case? 

A. Ridgeway Arizona i s loo k i n g f o r approval of an 

e x p l o r a t o r y u n i t t h a t encompasses 109,309.3 3 acres of 

s t a t e , f e d e r a l and fee lands, s i t u a t e d i n Catron County, 

New Mexico, and Apache County, Arizona. 

Q. What i s E x h i b i t 1? 

A. E x h i b i t 1 i s the u n i t agreement f o r the 

development of the Cottonwood Canyon Carbon Dioxide Gas 

U n i t . 

Q. What forms were used as the basis of t h i s 

agreement? 

A. We used e x p l o r a t o r y forms used by the 

Commissioner of Public Lands. We had one p r o v i s i o n t h a t 

was taken from the Bravo Dome C02 u n i t agreement. 

Q. And what p r o v i s i o n was from the Bravo Dome 

agreement? 

A. That would be under Section 15, I t h i n k i t i s . 

That concerns the delay r e n t a l s . As t h i s p r o j e c t i s i n a 

p r e t t y remote area w i t h no a v a i l a b l e i n - p l a c e p i p e l i n e s , i t 

w i l l be several years before we s t a r t p r o d u c t i o n , or they 

s t a r t s e l l i n g gas. And because of t h i s , the r e n t a l s w i l l 

be increased every year u n t i l the sales of gas begin. 

Q. Was t h i s p r o v i s i o n included a t the request of the 

New Mexico Land Commissioner? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A. Yes, s i r , i t was. 

Q. And how w i l l production be a l l o c a t e d under t h i s 

agreement? 

A. As i n the e x p l o r a t o r y u n i t agreements, i t w i l l be 

s o l e l y on an acreage basis. I t w i l l be an undivided u n i t , 

where each t r a c t w i l l p a r t i c i p a t e i n prod u c t i o n from the 

date of the f i r s t sale of gas, and each t r a c t — 

p a r t i c i p a t i o n w i l l be based on each t r a c t ' s acreage d i v i d e d 

by t h e t o t a l number of acres of the u n i t . 

Q. There won't be any p a r t i c i p a t i n g areas i n t h i s 

u n i t ? 

A. No, s i r , there w i l l not. 

Q. Okay. 

And does t h i s agreement provide f o r a c o n t r a c t i o n 

of the u n i t also? 

A. Yes, s i r , I t h i n k i t ' s Section 2 (e) provides f o r 

the c o n t r a c t i o n of the u n i t , and the p a r t i c i p a t i o n w i l l be 

r e c a l c u l a t e d a f t e r the c o n t r a c t i o n . 

Q. Are th e r e any other s p e c i a l p r o v i s i o n s i n t h i s 

agreement? 

A. I t h i n k i t i s Section 14 t h a t provides f o r the 

use of carbon d i o x i d e w i t h i n the State of New Mexico, and 

t h a t was included a t the Commissioners' request al s o . 

Q. Okay. What substances are being u n i t i z e d under 

t h i s agreement? 

STEVEN T. 
(505) 

BRENNER, CCR 
989-9317 
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A. This agreement provides p r i m a r i l y f o r the 

u n i t i z a t i o n of the C02, but i t also includes other 

substances t h a t are produced i n a s s o c i a t i o n w i t h carbon 

d i o x i d e . 

Q. Are a l l formations u n i t i z e d ? 

A. Yes, so long as they produce u n i t i z e d substances. 

Q. Okay. B r i e f l y , what i s E x h i b i t 2? 

A. E x h i b i t 2 i s a l e g a l d e s c r i p t i o n of the u n i t 

area. 

Q. Okay. Now, r e f e r r i n g back t o the u n i t agreement 

i t s e l f , E x h i b i t 1, what i s E x h i b i t A t o the u n i t agreement? 

A. E x h i b i t A t o the u n i t agreement i s the u n i t p l a t . 

I t shows the u n i t area 

Q. Now, t h i s land — the land i s l o c a t e d p r i m a r i l y 

i n New Mexico, but some i n Arizona. Why does the u n i t 

i n c l u d e lands i n Arizona? 

A. The — I n i t i a l l y , the s t r u c t u r e t h a t t h i s u n i t i s 

based on encompasses lands on both sides of the s t a t e l i n e , 

i n Arizona and New Mexico, and i f memory serves, I t h i n k 

there's approximately 155,000 acres t h a t we consider 

p r o d u c t i v e but are not w i t h i n the proposed u n i t . 

Q. And those 155,000 acres are i n Arizona? 

A. The State of Arizona. 

Q. Now, l e t ' s stop f o r a moment and maybe discuss a 

l i t t l e b i t of the p r o j e c t ' s background. Could please give 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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the Examiner a b r i e f h i s t o r y of the proposed u n i t area? 

A. Ridgeway s t a r t e d a c q u i r i n g leases back i n A p r i l 

of 1994. To date they have d r i l l e d 11 w e l l s i n Arizona and 

s i x w e l l s i n New Mexico, a t the approximate cost of $2 6 

m i l l i o n . The play was i n i t i a l l y an o i l play, but they 

discovered C02 instead. 

That being the case, f i n d i n g gas i n s t e a d of o i l , 

w i t h no a v a i l a b l e p i p e l i n e s i n place, Ridgeway wanted t o go 

ahead and u n i t i z e t h i s area, and they f e l t t h a t u n i t i z a t i o n 

was necessary t o form a block of acreage b i g enough t o 

support the c o n s t r u c t i o n of a $3 0 0 - m i l l i o n p i p e l i n e and an 

$ 8 5 - m i l l i o n gas processing p l a n t . 

Q. Okay. Now, you mentioned the $26 m i l l i o n f i g u r e 

t h a t ' s been expended t o date. That includes a l l costs 

r e l a t e d t o the u n i t , doesn't i t ? 

A. I t ' s my understanding t h a t i t covers the 

environmental impact study, lease cost, r e n t a l s , d r i l l i n g 

c o s ts, c o n t r a c t labor, any and a l l of i t . 

Q. Okay. Did Ridgeway i n i t i a l l y seek t o form one 

u n i t covering a l l lands w i t h i n t h i s s t r u c t u r e l o c a t e d i n 

both states? 

A. Yes, s i r , they d i d . And I t h i n k we have as 

E x h i b i t s 3A and 3B t h a t are submitted, i n the packets, 

t h e r e are l e t t e r s t o the BLM and the Commissioner 

reque s t i n g approval of t h a t . 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. And t h a t was done almost a year ago, wasn't i t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. And a t t h a t time, the proposed u n i t 

covered what? About 300,000 acres? 

A. I t h i n k i t was 314,000-plus, i f memory serves. 

Q. Okay. What happened t o the proposal t o u n i t i z e 

a l l of the lands i n both states under one u n i t ? 

A. The proposal was submitted t o the State of 

Arizona, Commissioner of Public Lands. They a c t u a l l y — 

The State of Arizona a c t u a l l y has approximately 122,000 

s t a t e t r u s t lands w i t h i n t h a t i n i t i a l u n i t . We had several 

meetings w i t h those f o l k s . They met w i t h the BLM and the 

Commissioner of Public Lands i n New Mexico. And although 

we made a formal proposal t o them, we never heard back from 

them on t h a t proposal. 

We met i n — I t h i n k i t was January of t h i s year, 

t h i s l a s t meeting t h a t we had, and the State of Arizona 

t o l d us t h a t they would not consider a s i n g l e u n i t t h a t 

i n c l u d e d State of Arizona lands. 

Q. What i s the status of an Arizona u n i t a t t h i s 

p o i n t ? 

A. I have no idea. 

Q. S t i l l haven't heard anything back from them 

f o r m a l l y ? 

A. No, s i r , not f o r m a l l y . 
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Q. What happened a f t e r the January meeting? 

A. We were approached by Mr. Paul Buff w i t h the 

Arizona BLM, and he requested t h a t — we were considering a 

two-state u n i t — t h a t we would include a l l of the Arizona 

f e d e r a l lands w i t h i n t h a t u n i t , as w e l l as the New Mexico. 

And a f t e r we got t h a t request, we met w i t h Pete 

Martinez w i t h the Commissioner's O f f i c e here i n New Mexico, 

and Armando Lopez w i t h the New Mexico BLM, and t h i s 

proposal i s a r e s u l t of t h a t meeting. 

Q. Okay. Now, r e f e r r i n g back t o the u n i t agreement, 

what are E x h i b i t s B and C t o the u n i t agreement? 

A. E x h i b i t B i s a l i s t t h a t shows the t r a c t s , the 

leases and the owners of a l l the t r a c t s i n the proposed 

u n i t . And E x h i b i t C shows the i n t e r e s t of each one of 

those t r a c t s i n the proposed u n i t . 

Q. What percentage of the land i n the u n i t i s 

f e d e r a l , s t a t e and fee? 

A. I t h i n k the fee i s p r e t t y close t o 1.4 percent. 

The s t a t e lands — New Mexico s t a t e lands are, I t h i n k , 

17.4. And the f e d e r a l lands are 81.2 percent. 

Q. Okay, of the 81.2 percent f e d e r a l lands, how i s 

t h a t s p l i t between Arizona and New Mexico? 

A. I t h i n k 17.5 percent are Arizona f e d e r a l lands, 

and 63.7 percent i s New Mexico f e d e r a l lands. 

Q. Now, has E x h i b i t 1, t h i s proposal we're here f o r 
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today, been submitted t o the BLM and t o the New Mexico Land 

Commissioner f o r p r e l i m i n a r y approval? 

A. Yes, i t has. 

Q. And has Ridgeway been informed by Armando Lopez 

of the BLM t h a t we w i l l be g e t t i n g what they c a l l a l e t t e r 

of d e s i g n a t i o n s h o r t l y ? 

A. Yes, I got voice m a i l from him two days ago 

saying t h a t they would have t h a t f i l e d before t h i s meeting. 

Q. Okay, but we haven't seen i t ? 

A. No, we have not. 

Q. W i l l you f i l e t h a t w i t h the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n as soon as we get i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And s i m i l a r l y , has Ridgeway been informed by Pete 

Martinez of the State Land O f f i c e t h a t as soon as the BLM 

gives i t s p r e l i m i n a r y approval he w i l l g ive the p r e l i m i n a r y 

approval f o r the State of New Mexico? 

A. Yes, we have. 

Q. Okay, and again, w i l l t h a t l e t t e r be submitted t o 

the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n as soon as we rece i v e i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t w i l l . 

Q. What are the working i n t e r e s t s i n the u n i t ? And 

I r e f e r you t o E x h i b i t 4. 

A. Okay, the working i n t e r e s t owners and percentages 

i n t h i s u n i t , Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation owns 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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approximately 93.74955 percent. Gary L. Kiehne, 4.7669 

percent — Do you want me t o go down the l i s t ? 

Q. Yeah, the r e s t are p r e t t y small i n t e r e s t 

owners — 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. — are they not? 

I n p a r t i c u l a r , the United States i s l i s t e d as a 

working i n t e r e s t owner. Could you e x p l a i n the reason f o r 

t h a t ? 

A. There's a f e d e r a l t r a c t t h a t the BLM would not 

lease t o us, because i t ' s the s i t e of an a v i a t i o n 

n a v i g a t i o n a l f a c i l i t y , and they are prevented from l e a s i n g 

t h a t . 

Q. Okay. And the other working i n t e r e s t owners you 

l i s t are fee owners; i s t h a t — No, are they fee owners? 

Excuse me? 

A. They are w i t h the exception of the Blanco 

Company, who owns, I t h i n k , 318.68 acres of the f e d e r a l 

lease, i f memory serves me c o r r e c t l y . 

Q. And Gary Kiehne i s a working i n t e r e s t owner under 

f e d e r a l leases a l s o ; i s t h a t — 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. Have the working i n t e r e s t owners i n the 

u n i t , other than the BLM, been o f f e r e d the chance t o j o i n 

i n the u n i t ? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A. Yes, they have. Submitted as E x h i b i t 5 shows the 

l e t t e r s t h a t I sent t o the working i n t e r e s t owners. These 

inclu d e d r a t i f i c a t i o n and j o i n d e r , a g e o l o g i c a l r e p o r t , a 

u n i t agreement and a j o i n t operating agreement. 

Q. Have you received any signed r a t i f i c a t i o n s ? 

A. Only from Ridgeway. 

Q. From the working i n t e r e s t owner? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Has Gary Kiehne been aware of Ridgeway 1s attempts 

t o u n i t i z e the acreage i n New Mexico and Arizona? 

A. Yes, s i r , they were aware of our i n i t i a l proposal 

and have attended several meetings w i t h the Ridgeway people 

and the Arizona f o l k s . 

Q. And the BLM has been present a t some of these 

meetings also? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . Maybe not a l l of them, but some 

of them. I haven't been present a t a l l of these meetings. 

Q. What i s E x h i b i t 6? 

A. E x h i b i t 6 i s an AAPL Form 610-1982 Model Form 

Operating Agreement t h a t has some r e v i s i o n s t o i t . 

Q. And t h i s i s what Ridgeway proposes t o be the 

op e r a t i n g agreement i n the event other working i n t e r e s t 

owners j o i n i n the u n i t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Have the fee r o y a l t y owners and the o v e r r i d i n g 
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r o y a l t y owners been o f f e r e d the chance t o j o i n i n the u n i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , they have. E x h i b i t 7 i s a stack of 

those l e t t e r s t h a t I sent t o the r o y a l t y owners and 

o v e r r i d e r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t owners. 

Q. Okay. And have any of these fee r o y a l t y owners 

or o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y owners el e c t e d t o r a t i f y the u n i t ? 

A. Yes, Mr. George Scott, the only o v e r r i d i n g 

i n t e r e s t owner, has r a t i f i e d the u n i t , as w e l l as Gregoria 

Orona, Charles Orona and a Joaquin Orona. 

Q. Okay. And i s E x h i b i t 8A a package of the 

r a t i f i c a t i o n s , i n c l u d i n g — i t includes r a t i f i e d and -- I 

mean, excuse me, executed and unexecuted? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. And what i s E x h i b i t 8B? 

A. 8B i s a t a l l y of those r a t i f i c a t i o n s t h a t have 

been received by my o f f i c e t o date. 

Q. Okay, counting what's been received t o date, what 

percentage — separately, what percentage of the working 

i n t e r e s t and what percentage of the r o y a l t y and o v e r r i d i n g 

r o y a l t y ownership has agreed t o the u n i t , assuming we get 

the BLM and State Land O f f i c e approval? 

A. The working i n t e r e s t ownership i s a t 93.74955 

percent. The r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t , i f you include the BLM and 

the s t a t e lands, i s a t 99.989405. And the o v e r r i d i n g 

r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t i s 100 percent. 
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Q. I s t h i s a v o l u n t a r y u n i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t i s . No one can be forced t o j o i n . 

Q. Okay. Now, you d i d mention these c e r t a i n 

percentages. Are these percentages s u f f i c i e n t t o o b t a i n 

f i n a l approval of the u n i t from the BLM and the 

Commissioner? 

A. I t i s my understanding t h a t they are. 

Q. And were a l l p r i v a t e i n t e r e s t owners n o t i f i e d of 

the date of t h i s hearing? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And i s E x h i b i t 9 a package of your n o t i c e l e t t e r s 

t o the v a r i o u s p r i v a t e i n t e r e s t owners? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. I n your op i n i o n , i s the g r a n t i n g of t h i s 

A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the 

pre v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And were E x h i b i t s 1 through 9 prepared by you, 

under your d i r e c t i o n , or compiled from company business 

records? 

A. Yes, they were. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I ' d move the admission 

of Ridgeway's E x h i b i t s 1 through 9. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 1 — 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 
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EXAMINER STOGNER: I'm so r r y , any obj e c t i o n ? 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 1 through 9 w i l l be 

admitted i n t o evidence. 

Before I l e t Mr. Carr cross-examine — Do you 

have one more? 

MR. BRUCE: I have one f i n a l question t h a t I 

f o r g o t t o ask, Mr. Examiner. 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Richardson, you saw a l e t t e r 

t h i s morning from Mike Rice of the Arizona State Land — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — Department, expressing some concerns about 

having Arizona State t r u s t land included i n t h i s u n i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I s the r e any Arizona State t r u s t land included i n 

t h i s proposed u n i t ? 

A. No, s i r , t here i s not. 

MR. BRUCE: Okay, thank you, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Before I allow cross-

examination, I need one t h i n g because I heard something, I 

want t o make sure I got i t r i g h t . 

Whenever you asked something about was t h i s a 

v o l u n t a r y u n i t , your response was, nobody can be f o r c e -

pooled? 

THE WITNESS: Nobody can be forced t o p a r t i c i p a t e 
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i n t h i s u n i t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, t h a t ' s a l l I have. 

Okay, Mr. Carr, your witness. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Mr. Richardson — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — I be l i e v e you t e s t i f i e d t h a t the Arizona u n i t 

would c o n t a i n approximately 155,000 acres. 

A. That i s — That's not a l l State of Arizona lands, 

but t h a t i s 155,000 acres t h a t was included i n the l a r g e r 

u n i t , and i f you take what we are proposing the Cottonwood 

Canyon U n i t t o be and su b t r a c t t h a t from the l a r g e u n i t , 

t h a t ' s how I a r r i v e d a t the 155,000. 

Q. That's an approximate s i z e , what t h a t u n i t would 

be? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. My question, then, i s , how many acres are going 

t o be i n t h i s u n i t , the New Mexico u n i t , or the u n i t we're 

di s c u s s i n g today? 

A. 109,309.3 3 acres, i f memory serves me c o r r e c t . 

Q. Okay. I f I understood your testimony, you 

i n d i c a t e d t h a t the BLM wanted a l l the f e d e r a l land included 

i n the u n i t we're discussing today? 

A. Yes, s i r , they discussed a l l the f e d e r a l land 
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t h a t was contiguous. 

Q. And t h a t ' s my question. There are a d d i t i o n a l 

f e d e r a l lands t h a t w i l l be included i n the Arizona u n i t , 

but t h e y ' r e not contiguous w i t h the f e d e r a l t r a c t s i n the 

u n i t we're discussing a t t h i s time? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . That was the c a l l of Mr. 

Armando Lopez. 

Q. What substances are being u n i t i z e d , other than 

carbon dioxide? Would helium be included, do you know? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t would be. We don't --

Q. I s helium covered by f e d e r a l leases? 

A. No, s i r , i t i s not. 

Q. But you're i n t e n d i n g t o u n i t i z e t h a t ? 

A. Yes, we have made a p p l i c a t i o n t o the BLM i n 

A m a r i l l o , and they are w a i t i n g on our EIS t o g i v e us 

f i n a l — approval of t h e i r f i n a l word. 

Q. When d i d you meet w i t h the Commissioner of Public 

Lands? Do you know what date t h a t was? 

A. We had several meetings. I ' d have t o go back and 

look on my calendar. 

Q. How r e c e n t l y have you t a l k e d t o — met w i t h Pete 

Martinez and the Land Commissioner's s t a f f concerning t h i s 

p a r t i c u l a r u n i t proposal? 

A. We met w i t h Pete probably about two or t h r e e 

weeks ago. He had some r e v i s i o n s t h a t he needed made. We 
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had some e r r o r s i n some of our documents t h a t we submitted, 

and we brought those t o him. 

Q. And the boundaries t h a t we're disc u s s i n g f o r the 

u n i t here today were reviewed w i t h him a t t h a t time? 

A. Yes, i n f a c t , what I submitted t o him was a 

s t r u c t u r e map t h a t was revis e d . 

Q. I s t h a t Mr. Scott's s t r u c t u r e map? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. When was t h i s p a r t i c u l a r boundary, t h i s d i v i s i o n 

of t he r e s e r v o i r , decided upon by Ridgeway? 

A. I t was i n a meeting subsequent t o the January, 

1999, meeting where Mr. Paul Buff had requested t h a t we 

form t h i s u n i t i n t h i s manner. 

Q. I f I look a t the boundary — and I can pursue 

t h i s w i t h Mr. Scott i f i t ' s appropriate, but the outer 

boundary of the u n i t has got a g e o l o g i c a l b a s i s ; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. But the d i v i s i o n down the center, i n close 

p r o x i m i t y t o the s t a t e l i n e , i s r e a l l y based on ownership 

questions; i s t h a t not r i g h t ? 

A. Well, we were i n s t r u c t e d by the State of Arizona 

and Mr. Kiehne t o cut i t o f f a t the s t a t e l i n e because they 

were under the impression t h a t there was no C02 i n New 

Mexico. 
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Q. And the s t a t e l i n e — You d i d t h a t w i t h the 

exception of f e d e r a l t r a c t s t h a t you have put i n a t the 

request of the BLM? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. But the r e i s n ' t a g e o l o g i c a l basis. The s t a t e 

l i n e i s the r e a l reason you've d i v i d e d i t approximately 

where you have? 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s — We were i n s t r u c t e d t o do t h a t . 

Q. Now, your r e s p o n s i b i l i t y was p r o v i d i n g n o t i c e t o 

a f f e c t e d i n t e r e s t owners of t h i s p a r t i c u l a r A p p l i c a t i o n ; i s 

t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. You sent a l e t t e r t o Mr. Kiehne dated March 2 6th, 

1999, and you t r a n s m i t t e d w i t h t h a t l e t t e r copies of the 

A p p l i c a t i o n and some p l a t s and the u n i t agreement? 

A. Yes, s i r , I d i d . 

Q. Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the u n i t agreement? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I n t h i s l e t t e r you s t a t e d , Ridgeway's records 

show t h a t you are an i n t e r e s t owner i n the proposed u n i t . 

Joinder i n the u n i t i s v o l u n t a r y , and thus approval of the 

u n i t by the D i v i s i o n w i l l not a f f e c t your i n t e r e s t . 

I s i t your understanding t h a t approval of t h i s 

u n i t cannot a f f e c t Mr. Kiehne's i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Could you s t a t e t h a t again? 
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Q. Your l e t t e r s t a t e s t h a t t h i s D i v i s i o n ' s approval 

of t he u n i t by the D i v i s i o n w i l l not a f f e c t Mr. Kiehne 1s 

i n t e r e s t . Could you e x p l a i n t h a t statement t o me? 

A. Well, i t ' s s t r i c t l y v o l u n t a r y . I f Mr. Kiehne 

wanted t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the u n i t , he could do so. But i f 

he decided not t o and the u n i t was s t i l l approved, he could 

develop h i s lands by himself, on h i s own f r e e w i l l . 

Q. I f Mr. Kiehne — I f t h i s i s approved and Mr. 

Kiehne owns some t r a c t s r i g h t on the New Mexico-Arizona 

border — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — h i s choices are e i t h e r t o j o i n t h i s u n i t or 

develop h i s lands; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That i s my understanding. 

Q. And i f he agreed w i t h the State of Arizona t h a t 

t h e r e was no C02 i n New Mexico, h i s choice would be not t o 

put h i s lands i n the Arizona u n i t , but he has t o go w i t h 

the New Mexico u n i t ; i s n ' t t h a t the choice you're g i v i n g 

him? 

A. He does not have t o p a r t i c i p a t e i n the u n i t . I 

mean, i t ' s a v o l u n t a r y u n i t . 

Q. I f t h i s i s once approved — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — could he then p a r t i c i p a t e i n the Arizona u n i t ? 

A. I t h i n k Mr. Bruce, when he answered, allowed him 
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the o p t i o n t o do t h a t . Did you not, Mr. Bruce? 

Q. My question i s , once t h i s u n i t boundary i s 

e s t a b l i s h e d here — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. I s n ' t Mr. Kiehne's o p t i o n t o j o i n t h i s u n i t or go 

i t alone? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And once these boundaries are approved, he would 

not have an o p t i o n t o put h i s acreage on the Arizona border 

and commit i t t o the Arizona u n i t ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. That i s my understanding, yes, s i r . 

Q. And i f he agreed w i t h the State of Arizona t h a t 

t h e r e i s nothing on the New Mexico side, h i s t r a c t s get 

thrown i n w i t h the acreage t h a t they don't t h i n k i s 

p r o d u c t i v e ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? I mean, he has one choice, 

go w i t h the New Mexico u n i t , correct? 

A. That i s my understanding, yes, s i r . 

Q. And i f there's nothing over t h e r e on a s t r a i g h t 

acreage basis, he gets h i s share of n o t h i n g ; i s n ' t t h a t 

r i g h t ? I f t h a t ' s true? 

A. Well, i f t h a t ' s t r u e . 

Q. Okay. And i f i t ' s t r u e t h a t there's C02 on the 

Arizona side and he has some under h i s t r a c t , w i t h a 

s t r a i g h t - a c r e a g e a l l o c a t i o n i n t h i s boundary he doesn't get 

t o share i n the CO, t h a t ' s i n the r e s e r v o i r on the Arizona 
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s i d e ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Unless he develops h i s t r a c t s independently. 

Q. Why d i d you decide you were going t o form a u n i t , 

i n s t e a d of j u s t developing i t on an i n d i v i d u a l t r a c t basis, 

since i t seems l i k e you're the only one who's r a t i f i e d t h i s 

u n i t ? 

A. Well, we d i d i t simply because we wanted t o 

assemble a block of acreage t h a t would support the reserves 

f o r t he c o n s t r u c t i o n of the p i p e l i n e and the gas-processing 

p l a n t . 

Q. And you've got a l o t of costs up f r o n t you have 

t o be able t o j u s t i f y when the reserves behind i t fade out; 

i s n ' t t h a t f a i r t o say? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, i f Mr. Kiehne was t o go i t alone, would he 

have t o c o n s t r u c t h i s own dehydration f a c i l i t y ? 

A. Well, t h a t was brought up i n the meeting. You 

know, i f t h a t ' s what he wants t o do, he can do t h a t . I f he 

wanted t o c o n t r a c t w i t h Ridgeway t o handle h i s gas, he 

could do t h a t also. 

Q. Would Ridgeway commit here and now t o take h i s 

gas and gather i t and t r e a t i t ? 

A. I cannot answer t h a t , Mr. Carr. 

Q. So you might and you might not? 

A. That's not l e f t up t o me. I'm j u s t a c o n t r a c t 
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landman. 

Q. I r Ridgeway decided not t o do t h a t , Mr. Kiehne 

would have property t h a t he could develop on h i s own, but 

he couldn't economically do anything w i t h i t ; i s n ' t t h a t 

f a i r t o say? 

A. That would be f a i r t o say. 

Q. So t h i s i s — i f you're l e f t — I f you owned 

these p r o p e r t i e s and you were l e f t i n a s i t u a t i o n where 

your choice was t o e i t h e r commit i t t o a u n i t which looks 

m a r g i n a l l y p r o d u c t i v e , d r i l l i t on your own and not be able 

t o a f f o r d t o do anything w i t h i t , wouldn't you t h i n k t h i s 

u n i t p lan would a f f e c t t h a t i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Well, I don't know. I can't get i n Mr. Kiehne's 

mind. I mean — 

Q. I f you owned a t r a c t on the Arizona border, on a 

stand-alone basis, and i f you were going t o d r i l l a w e l l on 

i t , you had t o also b u i l d a processing f a c i l i t y and a 

g a t h e r i n g l i n e , you would agree w i t h me t h a t would a f f e c t 

your economics and your d e c i s i o n t o go forward, i f you were 

the one — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — i s n ' t t h a t correct? And t h a t was one i n t e r e s t 

— one o p t i o n you had. And the other was t o have i t put by 

someone else w i t h a bunch of m a r g i n a l l y p r o d u c t i v e land, 

you wouldn't have a very good set of op t i o n s , would you? 
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A. Well, t h a t ' s assuming t h a t they were m a r g i n a l l y 

p r o d u c t i v e . 

Q. But i f t h a t ' s what you b e l i e v e , wouldn't you 

t h i n k t h a t would a f f e c t your i n t e r e s t ? 

A. Well, I guess you would have t o make t h a t 

assumption, but I'm sure Mr. Kiehne was aware of t h a t 

before he got i n t o t h i s . 

Q. I s n ' t — Was aware of what? 

A. Aware of the economics and how a l l t h i s works. 

Q. Was he aware you were going t o d i v i d e i t t h i s way 

before he got i n t o t h i s ? 

A. Well, we d i d t h i s a t h i s i n s t r u c t i o n . 

Q. You put these Arizona t r a c t s i n the New Mexico 

u n i t a t h i s i n s t r u c t i o n ? 

A. No. 

Q. I s t h a t your testimony? 

A. No, we went w i t h a two-unit scenario instead of a 

l a r g e - u n i t scenario because of h i s i n s i s t e n c e and the State 

of Arizona's. The Arizona BLM i n s i s t e d t h a t we put h i s 

land i n t h i s u n i t . 

Q. But Mr. Kiehne was not aware when he was 

advocating two u n i t s , t h a t you were aware o f , t h a t h i s 

acreage was going t o put h i s Arizona acreage i n t o a New 

Mexico u n i t ; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? He couldn't have — 

A. Well, I wasn't e i t h e r . 
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Q. When we look a t the t r a c t s on the New Mexico-

Arizona border and we s t a r t coming down these, down the 

center, we go t o F-09, who — Does Mr. Kiehne own anything 

i n t h a t one, do you know? 

A. I would have t o look a t the e x h i b i t s , r e a l l y , t o 

see. F-09, yes, s i r , t h a t ' s a f e d e r a l lease t h a t Mr. 

Kiehne owns. 

Q. Okay, what about F-08? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t ' s a f e d e r a l lease t h a t Mr. Kiehne 

owns. 

Q. So along the s t a t e l i n e you put Mr. Kiehne's 

leases i n the New Mexico u n i t ; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Where i s the heart of t h i s r e s e r v o i r ? Do you 

know, or should I pursue t h i s w i t h Mr. Scott? 

A. I t would probably be b e t t e r i f you pursued t h a t 

w i t h Mr. Scott. 

Q. Do you know where you're i n i t i a l l y going t o 

develop the r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. No, s i r , I don't. 

Q. Do you know where a t r e a t i n g or a processing 

f a c i l i t y might be located? 

A. I have an idea where one or two s i t e s are being 

considered, but t h a t i s not l e f t up t o me. 

Q. Okay, the two t h a t you know about, are e i t h e r of 
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them i n New Mexico? 

A. One of them i s , yes, s i r . 

Q. Do you know what the t i m i n g would be on t h a t ? 

A. No, s i r , I don't. 

Q. Does Mr. Scott know that ? 

A. I don't know. You'd have t o ask Mr. Scott. 

Q. I f we go t o the u n i t agreement t h a t ' s your 

E x h i b i t Number 1, go t o page 10 — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — the p r o v i s i o n on r o y a l t y settlement, i t t a l k s 

about being able t o take i n - k i n d . That i s a p r o v i s i o n t h a t 

o n l y a p p l i e s t o r o y a l t y owners; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. I ' d have t o read i t again, Mr. Carr. 

Q. I guess my question — Do you know i f a working 

i n t e r e s t owners could take h i s share of u n i t proceeds i n -

kind? 

Mr. Richardson, i f you don't know, I'm not t r y i n g 

t o make you — 

A. Well, I ' l l have t o answer I'm not c e r t a i n . 

Q. I f we go t o page 11 of t h i s agreement, i t t a l k s 

about how — the paragraph before subparagraph (a) on page 

11, i t t a l k s about the p a r t i e s r ecognizing t h a t i t ' s the 

r e s p o n s i b i l i t y of the working i n t e r e s t owners t o place 

carbon d i o x i d e i n a marketable c o n d i t i o n , f r e e of costs t o 

the r o y a l t y owners. And then i t goes on i n paragraph (a) 
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and t a l k s about market value a t the u n i t boundary. 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. So before you pay r o y a l t y , i s i t my understanding 

t h a t Ridgeway and the working i n t e r e s t owners w i l l pay f o r 

dehydration and ga t h e r i n g and compression and those kinds 

of charges? 

A. That's my understanding, yes, s i r . 

Q. Okay. I f we go over t o page 19, i t t a l k s about 

non-joinder and subsequent j o i n d e r . Are you f a m i l i a r w i t h 

t h a t paragraph? 

A. Vaguely, yes, s i r . 

Q. I f I read t h i s , i s i t t r u e t h a t i f a working 

i n t e r e s t owner doesn't commit the t r a c t t o the u n i t , then 

the r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t i s not i n the u n i t ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s my understanding, yes, s i r . 

Q. So i f Mr. Kiehne wouldn't commit the Tracts F-08 

and F-09 t o the u n i t , the f e d e r a l government wouldn't get 

any r o y a l t y o f f h i s t r a c t s ; i s t h a t how t h i s works? 

A. That i s my understanding, i f i t weren't p e r m i t t e d 

and he d i d n ' t develop them on h i s own. 

Q. Do you know i f — I guess the Arizona u n i t i s 

going t o be p r o d u c t i o n - a l l o c a t e d on a s t r a i g h t acreage 

basis as well? 

A. Mr. Carr, I couldn't answer t h a t . We t a l k e d t o 

the State of Arizona about a s t r a i g h t acreage-basis and a 
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p a r t i c i p a t i n g area. They were not happy w i t h the 

p a r t i c i p a t i n g area. So I couldn't t e l l you w i t h any degree 

of c e r t a i n t y where the State of Arizona i s going t o go. 

Q. Do you have any idea what the time frame i s on 

the Arizona u n i t ? 

A. No, s i r , I do not. 

MR. CARR: That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. Carr. 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: A couple of follow-up questions I 

want t o c l a r i f y . 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Richardson, a f t e r the January, 1999, meeting 

over i n Phoenix w i t h the Arizona Land Commissioner and 

Armando Lopez of the BLM and Mr. Kiehne, Ridgeway came back 

and was going t o form s o l e l y a New Mexico u n i t ; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And i t was the Arizona BLM t h a t requested t h a t t o 

the e x t e n t p o s s i b l e f e d e r a l lands i n Arizona be included 

w i t h the New Mexico u n i t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, i f — Follow-up question. I f the C02 

m a g i c a l l y disappears a t the Arizona-New Mexico State Line, 
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t h i s u n i t agreement provides f o r u n i t c o n t r a c t i o n , does i t 

not? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. Lands t h a t are not productive a f t e r a p e r i o d of 

f i v e or t e n years, depending on what happens, would be 

a u t o m a t i c a l l y contracted from the u n i t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . I t h i n k t h a t ' s Section 2 ( e ) . 

Q. Okay. So t h a t would a f f e c t f u t u r e working 

i n t e r e s t ownership i n the u n i t , would i t not? 

A. Yes, i t would. 

Q. And r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t ownership? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And t h i s u n i t may w e l l not even produce anything 

f o r t h r e e t o f i v e years from now; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. During which time t h e r e would be a d d i t i o n a l 

ongoing development, so by t h a t f i v e - y e a r time p e r i o d there 

would be a good idea of what lands are pr o d u c t i v e i n the 

u n i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Another purpose f o r u n i t i z a t i o n , Mr. Richardson, 

i s i t not, i s t o avoid the lease e x p i r a t i o n s t h a t are 

upcoming on a number of leases i n t h i s area? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. U n i t i z i n g them would reserve the leases and allow 
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o r d e r l y development of the u n i t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Now, Mr. Carr asked you a question about c e r t a i n 

deductions, processing deductions. 

At l e a s t w i t h respect t o the f e d e r a l leases, 

t h e r e are l i m i t a t i o n s i n the f e d e r a l r e g u l a t i o n s on what 

can be deducted before r o y a l t i e s are determined; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. So regardless of what the u n i t agreement may say, 

th e r e are also the superseding f e d e r a l r e g u l a t i o n s ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Has Gary Kiehne d r i l l e d any w e l l s on h i s acreage? 

A. Not t o my knowledge, no, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. I have one f i n a l c l a r i f i c a t i o n 

p o i n t f o r Mr. Carr. The t a k i n g of production i n - k i n d i s i n 

A r t i c l e VI.C of the u n i t operating agreement. 

And then I don't know i f we need t o address i t 

now, Mr. Examiner. Any question about a processing 

agreement w i t h Ridgeway could be addressed by Don Riggs, an 

o f f i c e r of Ridgeway Arizona who i s here today. 

That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARROLL: 

Q. I know you st a t e d t h i s e a r l i e r . What are the 
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costs, your estimated costs of b u i l d i n g the p i p e l i n e and 

the processing plant? 

A. I am t o l d t h a t the cost of the p i p e l i n e i s 

estimated a t $300 m i l l i o n at $85 m i l l i o n . 

Q. And t h a t p i p e l i n e w i l l go where? 

A. I am not sure a t t h i s p o i n t . 

Ridgeway has been i n n e g o t i a t i o n s w i t h several 

people. 

You might t a l k t o Mr. Riggs f u r t h e r about t h a t . 

Q. And the Arizona u n i t , t h a t ' s 155,000 acres? 

A. That was 155,000 acres a d d i t i o n a l t o the 109,000. 

Q. Right. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And how i s t h a t s p l i t , ownership? 

A. I d i d n ' t b r i n g t h a t w i t h me. I might be able t o 

f i n d i t i n my — 

Q. Well, can you j u s t estimate? 

A. — i n the b r i e f c a s e . The m a j o r i t y of i t was 

s t a t e lands, f e d e r a l lands and fee lands, i n t h a t order. 

Q. But i t includes a l l three? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. And then what Arizona agency i s going t o approve 

t h a t u n i t agreement? 

A. I assume i t would be the Arizona OCD, or the 

Geological Survey, as they c a l l i t . 
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Q. Do you know what the procedures are f o r approving 

the u n i t agreement over there before t h e i r Commission? 

A. No, I don't. The Arizona f o l k s are very vague 

about a l o t of t h i n g s , simply because they haven't had a 

l o t of experience i n doing t h i s type of s t u f f . 

Q. Right. Do you know what the lease e x p i r a t i o n 

dates are f o r the F-09 and F-08 leases? 

A. Yes, s i r , i t should be on E x h i b i t B, i f I can 

f i n d E x h i b i t B. F-09 and F-08. F-08 would e x p i r e 12-31-

2007, and F-09 would expire 12-31-2007. 

Q. Are those the only leases owned by Kiehne? 

A. No, s i r . The F-07 i s owned by Mr. Gary Kiehne, 

the F-05 i s owned by Mr. Gary Kiehne, and I t h i n k those are 

i t . F-09, F-08, F-07 and F-05. Oh, excuse me, F-03. 

Q. And where are the 7, 5 and 3 located? 

A. Pardon me? 

Q. Where are the leases 07, 05 and 03 located? 

A. Okay, 07 i s located up i n the northern p a r t . Can 

you see i t ? Sections 34, 35? 

Q. Yeah. 

A. Okay, Section 5 — or F-05 i s r i g h t n o r t h of 

t h a t . 

Q. Okay. And F-03 i s even n o r t h of t h a t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t i s c o r r e c t . 

MR. CARROLL: That's a l l I have. 
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EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. And what was the reason t h a t the f e d e r a l lands 

t h a t are being included today were included, and not the 

others t h a t w i l l be i n the Arizona u n i t ? 

A. Because they were c l o s e l y r e l a t e d or contiguous. 

The r e s t of the f e d e r a l lands were very much f u r t h e r away 

from the u n i t — proposed u n i t boundaries. 

Q. Okay, now, when you say "contiguous", contiguous 

i n what way? 

A. Where they touch, where they touch p o r t i o n s of 

other lands t h a t we have under lease. 

Q. On the lease or the u n i t ? 

A. Beg pardon, Mr. Stogner? 

Q. Are they contiguous w i t h i n the lease or w i t h i n 

the proposed u n i t ? 

A. W i t h i n the proposed u n i t . 

Q. Okay. How much p r i v a t e acreage over i n Arizona 

i s being included today? 

A. 160 acres. 

Q. Okay. Can you t e l l me about — t h a t agreement 

has been reached w i t h the r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t on th a t ? 

A. Yes, s i r i t has. 

Q. Why don't you give a l i t t l e more d e t a i l on th a t ? 

A. That land belonged t o Santa Fe Energy — or, 
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excuse me, Santa Fe Railroad. There was an o p t i o n 

agreement signed w i t h Santa Fe Energy. Santa Fe Energy 

s o l d those r i g h t s t o Bridge Petroleum, Bridge s o l d those 

r i g h t s t o Pioneer. We have got a signed agreement w i t h 

Pioneer covering t h a t t r a c t and about 20,000 other acres. 

Q. They s o l d a l l of t h a t p r i v a t e acreage, a l l 

i n t e r e s t s have agreed t o i t ? 

A. Yes. Under the agreement, we have the r i g h t t o 

u n i t i z e t h a t acreage. 

Q. But the Santa Fe R a i l r o a d has committed i t s 

r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t t o t h i s u n i t ? 

A. Well, we deal w i t h Pioneer; we don't deal w i t h 

Santa Fe R a i l r o a d . I t ' s a sublease of a sublease and the 

sale of the r i g h t s under the sublease. 

Q. So do you f e e l t h a t the r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t has been 

signed t o t h i s u n i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r , I do. We have got a signed agreement. 

Q. I f you take a look a t some of those f e d e r a l 

t r a c t s , they aren't contiguous t o other f e d e r a l t r a c t s but 

they are contiguous i n s i d e the u n i t w i t h most of t h a t 

p r i v a t e land designated as P-01; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Let's take a look a t F-15. That's the closed 

f e d e r a l acreage; i s t h a t correct? 

A. Yes, s i r , t h a t i s c o r r e c t . 
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Q. Okay, and t h a t looks l i k e — f o r the record, i t ' s 

over t h e r e i n Section 14 and 2 3 of Township 12 North, Range 

3 0 East i n Arizona. Let's take a look, i n p a r t i c u l a r , a t 

Section 23. What can you t e l l me about the northwest 

q u a r t e r , northwest quarter? What t r a c t does t h a t belong 

to? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t i s under F-06, Mr. Stogner, or F- — 

I t ' s covered by one of the other f e d e r a l leases. I ' d have 

t o look and see which one i t i s . Yes, under F-06, Mr. 

Stogner. 

Q. F-06, okay. 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, t h a t p a r t i c u l a r piece of pr o p e r t y , i s t h a t 

a c t u a l l y — I t ' s probably semantics, but does t h a t belong 

t o the FAA, or does the BLM have any designee or any 

a u t h o r i t y over t h a t acreage? 

A. I t i s handled by the BLM, and i t ' s got a 

s t i p u l a t i o n on i t t h a t i t i s not t o be leased. 

Q. Okay, l e t ' s t u r n our a t t e n t i o n now over t o New 

Mexico, on the p r i v a t e acreage over i n the New Mexico side. 

Of the p r i v a t e acreage, what percentage of the 

r o y a l t y i n t e r e s t s have signed t o j o i n t h i s u n i t ? 

A. We have got r a t i f i c a t i o n s from Charles Orona, 

Joaquin Orona and Gregorio Orona, and we have a v e r b a l 

c o n f i r m a t i o n from Carma N e l l Zumwalt — a l l of these — A l l 
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of the leases t h a t Ridgeway took were on a 342 form, and i t 

does gi v e us the r i g h t t o pool and u n i t i z e . 

Q. Okay, when I look at P-05, P-06 and P-07 — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — who owns the basic r o y a l t i e s on those 

acreages? 

A. Robert T. Hooper and Mary T. Hooper, a husband 

and w i f e . They are not i n t e r e s t e d i n j o i n i n g , they are not 

i n t e r e s t e d i n s i g n i n g the lease, they are not i n t e r e s t e d i n 

p a r t i c i p a t i n g , i t i s too small f o r them t o even f o o l w i t h , 

i s t h e i r words. N e l l i e Summers and B i l l i e Jean G i l l e s p i e 

were unleased i n t e r e s t s , but there i s a lease i n the m a i l , 

and they have agreed t o sign t h e i r lease. 

Q. Okay. Now, i t ' s my understanding t h a t you don't 

have a p r e l i m i n a r y — Okay, now, l e t ' s go back t o the 

f e d e r a l . Let me make sure t h a t the — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — I've got t h i s s t r a i g h t . Which BLM d i s t r i c t 

o f f i c e i s handling the f e d e r a l acreage? Are t h e r e two or 

j u s t one? 

A. Just one. Armando Lopez w i t h the Roswell o f f i c e 

i s h andling a l l of the f e d e r a l acreage i n t h i s proposed 

u n i t . 

Q. Now, i s i t your understanding t h a t t h i s Arizona 

p r o p e r t y wouldn't normally be handled l i k e t h a t , or was i t 
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an agreement w i t h i n the BLM o f f i c e s t o allow f o r t h i s ? 

A. I t was an agreement w i t h i n the BLM o f f i c e s , as 

the Roswell o f f i c e had a l o t of experience i n d e a l i n g w i t h 

o i l and gas, and the Phoenix o f f i c e had l i t t l e or none. 

Q. And t h i s i s — I n f a c t , the New Mexico d i s t r i c t 

f a l l s i n t o the Soccoro d i s t r i c t , does i t not? 

A. Yes, i t does. 

Q. And I guess they made arrangement f o r the Roswell 

BLM o f f i c e t o help? 

A. Yes, s i r , they f e l t t h a t they d i d n ' t have enough 

experience t o adequately handle i t e i t h e r . 

Q. And t h i s i s not unusual? 

A. No, s i r , i t ' s my understanding i t i s not. 

Q. The p r e l i m i n a r y approvals, you have no copies 

from the BLM O f f i c e or the New Mexico State Land O f f i c e — 

A. No, s i r , we do not. 

Q. — t o t h i s a t t h i s time? 

A. But we have t a l k e d w i t h — l e f t a message t o Pete 

Martinez, and he i s supposed t o fax t h a t t o t h i s OCD number 

as soon as he gets the message. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARROLL: 

Q. You said there was some f e d e r a l acreage included 

i n t he other u n i t , the 155,000-acre u n i t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 
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Q. Does Kiehne own any of the f e d e r a l leases i n t h a t 

u n i t ? 

A. He owns the m a j o r i t y of them, yes, s i r . 

Q. And do you know what the approximate percentage 

of the f e d e r a l leases i n t h a t u n i t are, what the f e d e r a l 

is? 

A. I don't have t h a t o f f the top of my head. I can 

get i t f o r you, but I can't do i t r i g h t now. 

MR. BRUCE: I t ' s less than 10 percent, i s n ' t i t , 

Mr. Richardson? 

THE WITNESS: I t h i n k t h a t ' s c o r r e c t , but... 

MR. CARROLL: That's a l l I have. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

MR. CARR: Just a follow-up. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Do you know what BLM o f f i c e w i l l be a d m i n i s t e r i n g 

the f e d e r a l lands i n the Arizona u n i t ? W i l l t h a t also be 

New Mexico? 

A. I t i s my understanding t h a t a l l of the Soccoro 

and Santa Fe — I mean, Soccoro and Phoenix have given t h a t 

t o t he Roswell o f f i c e . 

MR. CARR: That's a l l , thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 
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MR. BRUCE: I do have one question. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Looking a t t h i s u n i t o u t l i n e again, Mr. 

Richardson, the lands i n Arizona up t o the n o r t h , a t one 

p o i n t Gary had e s s e n t i a l l y proposed u n i t i z i n g t h a t block of 

lands, hadn't he? 

A. Yes, he d i d , as w e l l as some s t u f f t o the south. 

Q. He was proposing t o form, what, about a 6000-, 

7000-acre u n i t , up where t h i s northern area was, wasn't he? 

A. I t h i n k t h a t ' s c o r r e c t , yes, s i r . 

MR. BRUCE: Okay. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. And could you t e l l me why he decided not t o go 

forward w i t h t h a t ? 

A. I t a l k e d t o a f e l l o w I t h i n k by the name of C l i f t 

i n h i s o f f i c e , and I t o l d him t h a t we had already s t a r t e d a 

u n i t i z a t i o n process t o include e v e r y t h i n g and t h a t we 

wanted t o see t h a t through before we made a d e c i s i o n on the 

smaller acreage, or a smaller proposed u n i t , excuse me. 

MR. CARR: That's a l l I have. Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: You may be excused a t t h i s 

time. 

MR. BRUCE: C a l l Mr. Scott t o the stand. 
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GEORGE L. SCOTT. JR., 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d uly sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Would you please s t a t e your name and c i t y of 

residence f o r the record? 

A. George L. Scott, J r . , Roswell, New Mexico. 

Q. What i s your occupation? 

A. Geologist. 

Q. What i s your r e l a t i o n s h i p t o the A p p l i c a n t i n 

t h i s case? 

A. Consultant. 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before the D i v i s i o n 

as a ge o l o g i s t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And were your c r e d e n t i a l s as an expert petroleum 

g e o l o g i s t accepted as a matter of record? 

A. They have been. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the geology p e r t a i n i n g 

t o t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n and t o t h i s r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, I tender Mr. Scott as 

an expert petroleum g e o l o g i s t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any objection? 
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MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Scott i s so q u a l i f i e d . 

Q. (By Mr. Bruce) Mr. Scott, we've got a number of 

e x h i b i t s here. Maybe j u s t s t a r t w i t h the f i r s t one, 

E x h i b i t 10. Could you i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

T e l l him what zones are r e a l l y the main zones of i n t e r e s t 

i n t h i s r e s e r v o i r . 

A. Okay, E x h i b i t 10 i s a s t r a t i g r a p h i c c h a r t showing 

the surface and subsurface rocks i n the area. The rocks 

t h a t we're mainly concerned w i t h are Permian i n age, and 

they are subdivided i n t o San Andres, G l o r i e t a , Yeso and Abo 

formations. Now, the C02 t h a t we f i n d i s confined t o the 

Yeso and Abo formations. There i s some C02 i n the water 

t h a t i s found i n t he G l o r i e t a and the San Andres, but 

t h a t ' s not an o b j e c t i v e here. 

The Yeso formation of the Permian i s subdivided 

i n t o the F o r t Apache member and the Amos Wash member. And 

the Abo, down i n the basin of the Abo, has a u n i t we're 

r e f e r r i n g t o as the Riggs member, which i s C0 2-productive 

over a b i g p a r t of the s t r u c t u r e . 

The Amos Wash i s the p r i n c i p a l pay zone over t h i s 

l a r g e s t r u c t u r e . The next p r i n c i p a l pay zone would be the 

F o r t Apache, which i s a dolomite. The Amos Wash i s 

predominantly a very f i n e - g r a i n e d sand, and the Riggs 

member i s a siltstone/sandstone h i g h l y f r a c t u r e d r e s e r v o i r . 
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I might add, there i s also some C02 coming out of 

the Precambrian, from f r a c t u r e s i n the Precambrian g r a n i t e s 

i n some of the w e l l s i n the area. Not i n the New Mexico 

side so f a r , but across the l i n e a short distance i n 

Arizona, we've a c t u a l l y seen some C02 coming out of 

f r a c t u r e s i n the Precambrian. 

Q. Okay, Mr. Scott, could you maybe j u s t go through 

your next t h r e e e x h i b i t s , 11, 12 and 13 k i n d of together. 

Could you i d e n t i f y those f o r the Examiner and t e l l him what 

they show? 

A. E x h i b i t 11 i s a s t r u c t u r e map contoured on top of 

the Amos Wash formation, the p r i n c i p a l pay s e c t i o n , and I 

t h i n k you can see t h a t the northern and northeastern edge 

of the u n i t o u t l i n e p r e t t y w e l l f o l l o w s the s t r i k e of the 

s t r u c t u r a l contour l i n e s . 

And also shown on t h i s map i s the l a r g e r 

a n t i c l i n a l s t r u c t u r e t h a t accounts f o r the C02 accumulation 

i n both Arizona and New Mexico. I t ' s a very l a r g e 

s t r u c t u r e , f a u l t e d on the west side. That f a u l t may be a 

p a r t i a l seal t o m i g r a t i o n on the west side. 

We know from d r i l l i n g the w e l l s i n New Mexico 

t h a t they've behaved, as f a r as C02 shows and ev e r y t h i n g , 

they've behaved very s i m i l a r t o the w e l l s d r i l l e d on the 

Arizona side. Structurewise, these w e l l s over t h e r e are 

running roughly about the same s t r u c t u r a l l y as some of the 
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New Mexico w e l l s . 

Now, t h a t ' s the map on the Amos Wash forma t i o n . 

E x h i b i t 12, s t r u c t u r e map on top of the Fort 

Apache, which i s very s i m i l a r t o the Amos Wash, since i t ' s 

only about 80 t o 100 f e e t higher than the Amos Wash. I t ' s 

very s i m i l a r s t r u c t u r a l l y . 

And as w i t h the Amos Wash, we are not c e r t a i n 

about gas-water contacts. On the Amos Wash, we t h i n k the 

gas-water contacts are going t o be around — between t h a t 

4700- and 4800-foot contour l i n e . However, on something 

t h i s b i g , I t h i n k i t would be unusual t h a t we w i l l have a 

r i g i d gas-water contact over the e n t i r e s t r u c t u r e . We 

expect t h a t t h a t w i l l vary some. Also, we don't know 

whether there's a t i l t t o t h i s gas-water r e l a t i o n s h i p or 

not. There may w e l l t u r n out t o be a t i l t t o i t . 

The t h i r d contour map i s the top — t h a t ' s 

E x h i b i t 13 — i s contoured on top of the Riggs member of 

the Abo formation, and t h i s i s a s e c t i o n 100, 200 f e e t 

t h i c k , roughly, r i g h t above the top of the Precambrian. 

Q. Mr. Scott, do these maps, together w i t h the w e l l s 

t h a t have been d r i l l e d d e l i n e a t i n g the boundaries of the 

r e s e r v o i r , support the o u t l i n e of t h i s proposed u n i t ? 

A. Yes, they do, as f a r as the northern and eastern 

sides o f the u n i t , yes. 

Q. And these same maps would also be used t o d e f i n e 
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the o u t l i n e of an Arizona u n i t , would they not? 

A. Yes, they would. 

Q. Okay. Do you have anything f u r t h e r on these 

maps, Mr. Scott? 

A. No, we might r e f e r back t o them when we t a l k 

about the cross-section here. 

Q. Okay. Well, why don't we move on t o t h a t E x h i b i t 

14? Could you i d e n t i f y t h a t f o r the Examiner? 

A. Yes, t h i s i s a north-south c r o s s - s e c t i o n , cross-

s e c t i o n A-B, and the l i n e , r o u t e , of t h a t c r o s s - s e c t i o n i s 

shown on a l l t h r e e maps, A t o B. And the l e f t - h a n d side of 

the c r o s s - s e c t i o n would represent the nor t h e r n — i s the 

n o r t h end of i t . 

And t h i s i s — F i r s t , the scale i s 2 1/2 inches 

t o 100 f e e t . And i t shows the — s t a r t i n g over t o the l e f t 

i t shows the Yeso formation and the Abo fo r m a t i o n , and then 

the s u b d i v i s i o n s i n the Fort Apache and the Amos Wash. And 

down a t the bottom of the Abo, the Riggs member. 

And we have subdivided the Amos Wash i n t o f o u r 

zones, f o u r pay zones, 1, 2, 3 and 4. We also r e f e r t o 

Zone 4 as the Raven zone. 

Above the Fort Apache there are water-bearing 

sands i n the upper p a r t of the Yeso, and we have made an 

e f f o r t t o d r i l l t o the top of the Fort Apache and set the 

casing i n the top of the Fort Apache t o prevent water 
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coming i n w h i l e we were d r i l l i n g w i t h a i r . 

The Fort Apache has anhydrite i n the very top of 

i t , which i s probably the seal t h a t r e t a r d s a l o t of the 

upward m i g r a t i o n of the C02. We know t h a t C02 i s moving 

upward i n t o these Yeso sands and i n t o the G l o r i e t a , but by 

and l a r g e those anhydrites are our s e a l . 

Now, the pay zone i n the Fort Apache i s dolomite, 

and you can see on the d e n s i t y and neutron curves where 

t h a t curve k i c k s back t o the l e f t , t h a t ' s a l l porous. The 

p o r o s i t i e s get as high as 25, 26 percent i n t h a t F o r t 

Apache dolomite. T y p i c a l l y , though, i t ' s down around 14, 

15 percent. We count everything above 8 percent as pay i n 

the F o r t Apache. 

Now, moving down i n t o the Amos Wash, we found 

t h a t when we were d r i l l i n g over i n the Arizona side and 

c o r i n g , d i d a l o t of c o r i n g , t h a t the sands, very f i n e -

g r a i n but very clean sands i n the Amos Wash, would 

f r e q u e n t l y wash out on us, and we would only get p a r t i a l 

r e c o v e r i e s . And I t h i n k we see the same t h i n g happening 

here, i n these f i r s t two w e l l s on the c r o s s - s e c t i o n , where 

we have extensive washouts i n those porous sands. 

I n both of those w e l l s — a c t u a l l y , i n a l l f o u r 

w e l l s shown on the cross-section here, we encountered 

s t r o n g C02 blows, as we went i n t o the F o r t Apache and the 

Amos Wash, and also down i n the Riggs zone as w e l l . 
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As you move over t o the r i g h t side of the — The 

l a s t two w e l l s on the right-hand side of the cr o s s - s e c t i o n , 

you get a l i t t l e b e t t e r look a t r e s e r v o i r s t h e r e , because 

they're not washed out, i t d i d n ' t a f f e c t the d e n s i t y curve 

as much. 

Q. Now, these w e l l s , Mr. Scott, have not been 

completed y e t , have they? 

A. No, they haven't been f o r m a l l y completed. 

Q. And what does — There's a simple reason f o r 

t h a t , i s n ' t there? 

A. Well, the reason i s t h a t Ridgeway undertook t o do 

a l o t of expensive t e s t i n g and e v a l u a t i o n of the Riggs 

zone, the bottom s e c t i o n here, before coming on up the 

hole. And when you're d r i l l i n g w i t h a i r , sometimes you get 

some confusing r e s u l t s when you d r i l l through water zones. 

And we t h i n k now, t h a t probably there's some s t r i n g e r s here 

i n t he middle of t h i s upper Abo s e c t i o n t h a t are c a r r y i n g 

water. We noted sometimes as we got on down toward the 

Riggs zone and towards the Precambrian, we would s t a r t 

p i c k i n g up some water i n the r e t u r n a i r stream. And so 

Ridgeway has made q u i t e an e f f o r t t o evaluate t h i s zone. 

This zone h i s higher bottomhole pressures too, than the 

Amos Wash and the Fort Apache. 

Q. And a t t h i s p o i n t , t o complete a l l these w e l l s 

would i n v o l v e a s u b s t a n t i a l amount of money, would i t not? 
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A. Yes, yes, there was r e a l l y no need — We know 

these are pay zones up here, because of the way the C02 — 

Some of these w e l l s were v i r t u a l l y out of c o n t r o l f o r 

periods of time because of the way the C02 was blowing. I t 

never d i d blow out completely, they were under c o n t r o l . 

But i t was serious. 

Q. They wouldn't catch f i r e , of course? 

A. No, C02 doesn't burn. 

Q. I s the r e any doubt i n your mind t h a t there's C02 

on the New Mexico side of the s t a t e l i n e ? 

A. Well, as you can see down here, i n the comments 

down here, I commented about the percent of C02 i n the 

r e t u r n a i r stream w h i l e we were d r i l l i n g w i t h a i r , 45 

percent, even up t o 75 percent on t r i p gas. That's a l o t 

of C02. And I — There are n o t a t i o n s on the mud l o g l i k e , 

C0 2 blew the l i n e i n two, t h i n g s l i k e t h a t . And we'd 

already d r i l l e d the w e l l s i n Arizona before we moved over 

here, and we had some experience t o go on i n e v a l u a t i n g the 

shows. 

No, i n my mind there's no doubt about i t . You 

know, when you're d r i l l i n g w i t h a i r and you're d r i l l i n t o 

C02, you know i t , yeah. 

Q. Okay. I s E x h i b i t 15 simply a summary of the 

geologic — or a geologic r e p o r t t h a t was submitted w i t h 

the p r e l i m i n a r y approval request t o the BLM and the State 
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Land O f f i c e ? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And i t summarizes what you know about the 

geology i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes, i t ' s p r i m a r i l y a g e o l o g i c a l d i s c u s s i o n . 

Q. Mr. Scott, i n your opinion i s the g r a n t i n g of 

t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n i n the i n t e r e s t s of conservation and the 

pre v e n t i o n of waste? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. And were E x h i b i t s 10 through 15 prepared by you 

or under your d i r e c t i o n ? 

A. They were. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner I would move the 

admission of E x h i b i t s 10 through 15. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: E x h i b i t s 10 through 15 w i l l be 

admitted i n t o evidence, i f there are no o b j e c t i o n s . 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. Bruce. 

Mr. Carr? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Mr. Scott, you have three s t r u c t u r e maps, you've 

presented t h r e e s t r u c t u r e maps — 

A. Yes. 

Q. — of various members? 
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Could you j u s t i n i t i a l l y e x p l a i n t o me the 

s i g n i f i c a n c e of the s t r u c t u r e i n t h i s area? I s i t 

important? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And why? 

A. The gas i s — has accumulated as a r e s u l t of a 

f a u l t e d a n t i c l i n a l s t r u c t u r e . I t ' s a s t r u c t u r a l t r a p . And 

then the contours close and the — Perhaps i t • s a b i t more 

complicated than t h a t when you get over on the west side 

where t h a t f a u l t i n g occurs. But f o r a l l p r a c t i c a l purposes 

t h i s i s a la r g e s t r u c t u r a l t r a p . 

Q. When d i d you f i r s t become involved w i t h t h i s 

e f f o r t ? 

A. With t h i s area? 

Q. Yes. 

A. 1995, 1996, somewhere i n t h a t time frame. I 

remember i t f a i r l y w e l l , because I had bypass surgery r i g h t 

about the time I s t a r t e d l o o k i n g a t i t . 

Q. I remember t h a t . 

I s i t your mapping t h a t was a c t u a l l y used t o 

de f i n e the boundaries f o r t h i s u n i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And also the Arizona u n i t ? 

A. Yes. I n i t i a l l y another g e o l o g i s t d i d some of the 

i n i t i a l work f o r Ridgeway before I got invol v e d . He d i d a 
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very f i n e j o b , I might — i n my op i n i o n . 

Q. I s the r e another g e o l o g i c a l c o n s u l t a n t i n v o l v e d 

a t t h i s time? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you have an i n t e r e s t i n the u n i t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. An override? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you have an i n t e r e s t i n Ridgeway, or are you 

j u s t a consultant? 

A. I own no stock i n Ridgeway O i l Company. No, my 

i n t e r e s t i s i n the — as a consultant and also as an 

o v e r r i d i n g r o y a l t y owner. 

Q. Do you have an ove r r i d e i n the Arizona p o r t i o n of 

t h i s r e s e r v o i r as well? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were you involved a t the time the i n i t i a l 

d r i l l i n g took place i n the u n i t area? 

A. I was not involved when the f i r s t two w e l l s were 

d r i l l e d , and I have been subsequent t o the f i r s t two w e l l s . 

Q. I understood your testimony t o be t h a t you f i r s t 

d r i l l e d on the Arizona side; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And why was that? 

A. Well, t h e i r i n i t i a l w e l l was up the r e i n 12 
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North, 29 East, Section 15. 

Q. And on t h i s s t r u c t u r e map where approximately — 

I s t h a t a t the c r e s t of the s t r u c t u r e ? 

A. I t ' s on the northward — n o r t h plunge of the 

a n t i c l i n a l s t r u c t u r e . 

Q. Right. 

A. I t ' s southeast of St. Johns about e i g h t or nine 

miles t h e r e . 

Q. Why was the d r i l l i n g f i r s t conducted on the 

Arizona side? 

A. I am not sure of a l l of the reasons. There was a 

l i t t l e surface a n t i c l i n a l bump r i g h t t h e r e t h a t I t h i n k 

they focused on. I t t u r n s out — Well, I say bump. I t ' s 

an a n t i c l i n a l f e a t u r e there on the surface, surface 

geology. 

As i t t u r n s out, we t h i n k t h a t ' s j u s t a small 

w r i n k l e on a very much bigger s t r u c t u r e . But t h a t was what 

drew them t o t h a t l o c a t i o n . 

And then f o l l o w i n g t h a t , they moved about f o u r 

miles south and d r i l l e d a w e l l i n Section 3 of 11 North, 29 

East. And subsequent t o t h a t — My involvement i s 

subsequent t o t h a t . 

Q. Okay. When were the w e l l s on the New Mexico side 

d r i l l e d ? 

A. Let me t h i n k . I t was a f t e r a l l of the Arizona 
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d r i l l i n g . 

Q. And i s n ' t t h a t because the most pros p e c t i v e p a r t 

of t h i s r e s e r v o i r i s on the Arizona side of the l i n e ? 

A. No, I don't t h i n k we could make a statement l i k e 

t h a t . 

Q. Why d i d n ' t — 

A. C e r t a i n l y not u n t i l these w e l l s i n the New Mexico 

side have been completed, we a c t u a l l y t h i n k there's 

probably more net pay i n the w e l l s — the f i r s t two w e l l s 

on the cros s - s e c t i o n here, where those sands are washed 

out. Structurewise, they're w e l l up above any gas-water 

co n t a c t s , and we had r e a l l y exemplary blows of C02 as we 

went through those zones. 

So I couldn't conclude — Also — 

Q. You don't see a p o s i t i v e r e l a t i o n s h i p between 

being s t r u c t u r a l l y high t o having a b e t t e r prospect? 

A. No, as a matter of f a c t , some of the higher 

s t r u c t u r a l w e l l s have a much poorer Amos Wash s e c t i o n . The 

w e l l on the — 

Q. Have you t e s t e d those? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And have you produced — You're not producing any 

of them? 

A. Well, they're shut i n . 

Q. Were you involved i n discussions w i t h the Arizona 
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Land Board when they were saying they d i d not b e l i e v e there 

were reserves on the New Mexico side? 

A. I never heard anybody say t h a t , t h a t t h e r e were 

no reserves on the New Mexico side. 

Q. What you have now, though, i s n ' t i t f a i r t o say, 

i s a u n i t t h a t has the lowest s t r u c t u r a l p o r t i o n , or a 

s u b s t a n t i a l p a r t of the lowest s t r u c t u r a l p o r t i o n of the 

Arizona acreage thrown i n t o the New Mexico u n i t ? 

A. Well, t h a t ' s — I'm going t o have t o giv e you 

k i n d of a complicated answer t o t h a t , B i l l . 

Q. But my question i s f a i r l y simple. 

A. A l l r i g h t . 

Q. You do have the lowest s t r u c t u r e — The acreage, 

the n o r t h e r n p o r t i o n of t h i s r e s e r v o i r t h a t you plan t o 

u n i t i z e i n Arizona, i s lower s t r u c t u r a l l y than what you're 

going t o put i n the Arizona u n i t ; i s n ' t t h a t true? 

A. Well, there i s other acreage on the Arizona side 

t h a t w i l l be j u s t as low as t h a t — 

Q. But i s n ' t — 

A. — and B i l l , as you come around your contour 

l i n e s i n t o the New Mexico side, w e ' l l be throwing acreage 

i n t he New Mexico side i n t h a t ' s much higher s t r u c t u r a l l y 

than the acreage i n New Mexico we're t a l k i n g about. 

Q. The s t r u c t u r a l high i s centered i n Arizona, i s i t 

not? 
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A. A p a r t of i t , yes. But I want t o t e l l you — 

Q. I s the highest p o i n t i n t h i s u n i t i n Arizona? 

A. Yes, i t i s . 

Q. A l l r i g h t . 

A. I t i s , so f a r . 

Q. And i s the lower edge t h a t goes around the 

eastern and northern boundary, are t h e r e — I s t h a t 

boundary determined by your gas-water contact as you see 

i t ? 

A. Well, f i r s t of a l l , we have not pinned a l l these 

gas-water contacts down good. We do know t h a t even i n the 

dryhole t h e r e i n 2 North, 21 West, there's p o t e n t i a l l y some 

pay i n Amos Wash — i n the Fort Apache, i n t h a t w e l l . And 

we t h i n k the F o r t Apache and Amos Wash w i l l be p r o d u c t i v e 

over i n a l l of t h a t acreage above the 4700-foot contour 

l i n e . So t h e r e can be — Also, when you're t a l k i n g about 

reserves, you've got t o look a t your s t r a t i g r a p h y . As you 

move southwest across t h i s b i g a n t i c l i n e , you lose 

r e s e r v o i r q u a l i t y i n the Amos Wash. So you can't j u s t look 

at a s t r u c t u r e map and make a l l your judgments about 

reserves based on s t r u c t u r e . 

Q. And you d i d n ' t d r i l l these w e l l s i n i t i a l l y based 

j u s t on the s t r u c t u r e map; i s t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Well, we d i d n ' t have a l l of t h i s s t r u c t u r a l 

c o n t r o l t o go on. We p r o j e c t e d trends and d i d the best we 
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could. 

Q. And you d r i l l e d f i r s t i n — 

A. Oh, B i l l — 

Q. You d r i l l e d f i r s t i n Arizona? 

A. B i l l , l e t me add something t o t h a t , though. 

There are many G l o r i e t a water w e l l s t h a t have been d r i l l e d 

i n the Arizona side, and we were able t o use t h a t 

s t r u c t u r a l c o n t r o l t o give us a f a i r idea about what was a t 

depth. So — 

Q. I s i t unreasonable f o r me t o t h i n k t h a t i f you're 

t r y i n g t o determine what k i n d of a r e s e r v o i r you have here, 

t h a t you would d r i l l your w e l l s f i r s t where you t h i n k 

you've got your best chance of encountering C02? 

A. Yeah, I t h i n k t h a t ' s normally — t h a t ' s the 

l o g i c a l — 

Q. And you d r i l l e d your w e l l s f i r s t , based on a l l 

the data you had a v a i l a b l e t o you, i n Arizona, r i g h t ? 

A. Well, I wouldn't say t h a t t h a t was the e n t i r e 

reason. 

Q. But t h a t ' s — 

A. We were moving — We were moving outward from 

some of the e a r l y development and moving toward New Mexico, 

B i l l . 

Q. My question was — maybe you d i d n ' t understand i t 

— which s t a t e d i d you d r i l l i n f i r s t ? 
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A. Arizona. 

Q. Okay. Now, where are the processing f a c i l i t i e s 

proposed a t t h i s time? Do you know? 

A. I t h i n k you'd need t o maybe discuss t h a t w i t h Mr. 

Riggs. B a s i c a l l y — 

MR. BRUCE: I f you don't know — I f you don't 

know, George, j u s t say you don't know. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. Well, I don't know f o r sure. 

Q. (By Mr. Carr) Do you know of any processing 

f a c i l i t y being p r o j e c t e d i n New Mexico? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. Now, what you're proposing are two u n i t s t h a t 

d i v i d e one r e s e r v o i r , correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And when you d i v i d e a r e s e r v o i r , one side w i l l , 

i n a l l p r o b a b i l i t y , u l t i m a t e l y be determined t o be b e t t e r 

than the other; i s n ' t t h a t f a i r t o say? 

A. I don't know t h a t t h a t ' s — would be a f a i r 

statement, B i l l . 

Q. You t h i n k t h e y ' l l probably both be comparable 

from day one t o the end? 

A. Well, as I s t a t e i n t h i s l i t t l e w r i t e - u p here — 

I b e l i e v e I s t a t e d t h a t I f i g u r e d t h a t o n e - t h i r d t o one-

h a l f of the t o t a l reserves could be i n Catron County. And 

I say — I make t h a t statement because we simply do need a 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

61 

l o t more w e l l s before you can get s u p e r - d e f i n i t i v e i n your 

reserve e s t i m a t i n g . 

Q. So i s i t f a i r t o say we don't know i f t h a t Catron 

County u n i t w i l l be comparable t o the Arizona u n i t a t t h i s 

time? 

A. Well, you're t a l k i n g about t r i l l i o n s of cubic 

f e e t of gas, and t h a t ' s a l o t of gas, and — I t could be, 

i t could be comparable. 

Q. And i t might not be? We don't know? 

A. Yeah, I can't see around the other side of t h a t 

h i l l , B i l l , e x a c t l y . 

Q. Okay, and you're going t o provide a d e t a i l e d 

r e s e r v o i r — or reserve estimate a t a l a t e r date? 

A. Say t h a t again, B i l l , I d i d n ' t catch t h a t . 

Q. I ' l l read t h i s paragraph. 

A. Yeah. 

Q. I t says, D e t a i l e d reserve estimates w i l l be 

f u r n i s h e d i n the u n i t , g e o l o g i c a l and engineering r e p o r t 

which w i l l be submitted a t a l a t e r date t o the OCD, 

co r r e c t ? 

A. Yeah, we were — 

Q. And t h a t ' s because we don't know now, do we? 

A. We don't have a l l the f i n a l answers. 

Q. And we don't know i f there's a t h i r d on the 

Catron County side or not? 
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A. B i l l , I might add, a d e t a i l e d r e s e r v o i r 

engineering study has been made, but i t ' s a c o n f i d e n t i a l 

study. 

Q. And based on your c o n f i d e n t i a l study, you're 

going t o t e s t i f y t h a t there are a t h i r d of the reserves i n 

Catron County? 

A. I would expect there t o be a t h i r d of the t o t a l 

reserves, yes, s i r . 

Q. But you can't show t h a t study t o me? 

A. No, no, not u n t i l about another hundred w e l l s are 

d r i l l e d . 

Q. Do you have any idea when you're going t o put 

together an Arizona u n i t ? 

A. I would have t o defer t h a t , I t h i n k , t o the 

landman, Mr. John Michael Richardson. 

Q. Do you know — and t e l l me i f you don't — do you 

pla n t o s t a r t d r i l l i n g and completing w e l l s i n New Mexico 

anytime soon? 

A. That's a command de c i s i o n by Ridgeway. I would 

a n t i c i p a t e yes, but t h a t ' s up t h e i r management, B i l l . 

Q. You don't know when, exactly? 

A. And I — C e r t a i n l y not before a u n i t i s approved. 

Q. I f I look a t the mapping, i f i t ' s f a i r t o say 

t h a t the outside — the boundaries of t h i s general f e a t u r e 

were determined based on geology, c o r r e c t ? 
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A. That i s c o r r e c t . We d i d have some seismic 

i n f o r m a t i o n , B i l l . 

Q. Do you have seismic shoot over the e n t i r e area --

A. No. 

Q. — or j u s t p o r t i o n s of i t ? 

A. No. 

Q. Over the north? 

A. We have an east-west l i n e and a north-south l i n e . 

Q. The d i v i s i o n of t h i s r e s e r v o i r has been 

accomplished, though b a s i c a l l y on ownership — on an 

ownership basis; i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Say again, B i l l . 

Q. You've d i v i d e d the u n i t as you have — or the 

r e s e r v o i r , as you have, not based on g e o l o g i c a l 

c o n s i d e r a t i o n s but on ownership considerations? 

A. When you say " r e s e r v o i r " now, are you t a l k i n g 

about the rock s e c t i o n , or are you t a l k i n g about the 

surface land? 

Q. I'm t a l k i n g about what you've — You've got an 

outside boundary — 

A. Oh, okay. 

Q. — determined by geology — 

A. Yeah. 

Q. — but you cut i t i n p o r t i o n s , not based on 

g e o l o g i c a l considerations but on ownership c o n s i d e r a t i o n s ; 
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i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Well, and other considerations l i k e , you know, 

Arizona d i d n ' t want t o j o i n i n one b i g u n i t , so the s t a t e 

l i n e was — you know. 

Q. And t h a t ' s what they own, r i g h t ? Over on the 

other side of the l i n e ? 

A. That's r i g h t . 

Q. So you d i v i d e d i t based on ownership? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. I s your ownership common across the e n t i r e area, 

Mr. Sco t t , your r o y a l t y , your override? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So where i t ' s d i v i d e d doesn't make any d i f f e r e n c e 

t o you? 

A. No, i t does not. 

MR. CARR: Okay, t h a t ' s a l l I have. Thank you. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Just one f i n a l p o i n t of 

c l a r i f i c a t i o n . 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. What you're saying, Mr. Scott, i s t h a t although 

t h i s i s a s t r u c t u r a l t r a p , t h a t ' s not the sole f a c t o r 

i n v o l v e d i n determining whether a w e l l w i l l be good or bad? 

A. No, the s t r a t i g r a p h y , the f a c i e s changes, these 
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other g e o l o g i c a l considerations are important too. And we 

don't know what the source of t h i s C02 i s . Probably came 

up through deep f r a c t u r e s i n the Precambrian g r a n i t e , and 

i t may have migrated p r e f e r e n t i a l l y i n t o a p a r t of the 

r e s e r v o i r b e t t e r than elsewhere. So there are some other 

t h i n g s t h a t we don't have answers f o r . 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have. 

EXAMINATION 

BY EXAMINER STOGNER: 

Q. Mr. Scott, does t h i s f a u l t over on the — over t o 

the west, does t h a t extend down i n t o the Precambrian? The 

f a u l t ? 

A. Oh, the f a u l t , yes, yes. I n some of the 

l i t e r a t u r e , t h i s i s regarded as a l e f t l a t e r a l shear, w i t h 

the northeast side moving n o r t h w i t h respect t o the west 

si d e . And I r e a l l y suspect t h a t i s the case. But t o do i t 

and represent t h a t way here would be unnecessary and 

i m p r a c t i c a l . I t ' s j u s t an up-or-down f a u l t , as f a r as 

we're concerned here. 

Q. Would t h i s f a u l t be the — also the source of the 

C02? Would i t be more l i k e l y i f i t i s coming up t o the 

Precambrian i n t o the f a u l t , or would i t be somewhere else? 

A. That's i n t e r e s t i n g . I t might w e l l be. I t 

c e r t a i n l y could have. As you n o t i c e t h e r e , t h a t w e l l — 

There's a w e l l west of the f a u l t — i t ' s as high as 4880 
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f e e t above sea l e v e l on the Amos Wash, y e t we t h i n k t h a t 

w e l l i s wet. I t h i n k the way the s t r a t i g r a p h y i s developed 

i n the Amos Wash also influences the m i g r a t i o n of the C02, 

and i t i n f l u e n c e s the p o s i t i o n of the gas-water contact i n 

the Amos Wash. 

Q. Does the western boundary of t h a t western — or 

proposed western Arizona u n i t , would i t f o l l o w t h a t f a u l t , 

or does i t extend t o the west? 

A. We o r i g i n a l l y proposed t h a t i t f o l l o w t h a t f a u l t 

very c l o s e l y . Now, the — We have a l o t more c o n t r o l on 

t h a t f a u l t than j u s t the w e l l s t h a t you see here. There 

are many G l o r i e t a water w e l l s i n t h a t area, and the f a u l t 

comes r i g h t on t o the surface, and you can r e a l l y p i n t h i s 

f a u l t down by the G l o r i e t a water w e l l s . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions of t h i s 

witness? 

MR. BRUCE: I have no questions of t h i s witness. 

I would l i k e t o c a l l t o the stand Mr. Riggs. Mr. Carr has 

asked a couple of t h i n g s . Mr. Riggs i s an o f f i c e r of 

Ridgeway, and perhaps — 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Are there any other questions 

of Mr. Scott a t t h i s time? You may be excused. 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Riggs i s not sworn i n , and I'm 

not having him t e s t i f y as an expert, Mr. Examiner. 

(Thereupon, the witness was sworn.) 
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DON RIGGS, 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d uly sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BRUCE: 

Q. Mr. Riggs, would you s t a t e your name and c i t y of 

residence? 

A. Don Riggs, St. Johns, Arizona. 

Q. Who do you work for? 

A. Ridgeway Arizona O i l Corporation. 

Q. What i s your p o s i t i o n w i t h Ridgeway? 

A. Vice president of operations. 

Q. Have you been w i t h Ridgeway since, i n essence, 

the s t a r t of t h i s p r o j e c t ? 

A. I came on i n Ju l y of 1995. 

Q. And the p r o j e c t s t a r t e d what? I n 1994? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Just a couple of questions. Regarding a 

processing p l a n t , p o t e n t i a l processing p l a n t , have 

l o c a t i o n s been looked a t i n both states? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Both i n New Mexico and Arizona? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would Ridgeway b u i l d t h a t , or could a t h i r d p a r t y 

b u i l d i t ? 
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A. Very pos s i b l e a t h i r d p a r t y could b u i l d the 

p l a n t . 

Q. And i f t h a t ' s the case, Ridgeway would have t o 

enter i n t o a c o n t r a c t w i t h t h a t t h i r d party? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I f Ridgeway owns the p l a n t , i s Ridgeway w i l l i n g 

t o enter i n t o a reasonable c o n t r a c t a l l o w i n g Mr. Kiehne t o 

process h i s C02? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And f i n a l l y , Mr. Riggs, Mr. Carr was asking Mr. 

Scott about the order of d r i l l i n g w e l l s . Could you comment 

on why w e l l s are d r i l l e d l a t e r i n New Mexico than i n 

Arizona? 

A. I n e a r l y 1994, Ridgeway Petroleum, the parent 

company, leased 20,000 acres, plus or minus, i n Arizona 

l o o k i n g f o r an o i l show t h a t had been purported i n a w e l l 

t h a t was d r i l l e d by somebody. C02 was discovered. 

A year l a t e r , t h i s stepout t h a t George r e f e r r e d 

t o , 3-1, was d r i l l e d and more C02 was encountered. At t h a t 

time I was working as a c o n s u l t a n t , and then they brought 

me on board and formed the company, and Mr. Scott got 

i n v o l v e d . 

And on the recommendations of George, you know, 

we leased some more land and, you know, I t h i n k — I can't 

s p e c i f i c a l l y say, but we probably went through s i x or seven 
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d i f f e r e n t l e a s i n g periods. 

And a f t e r the w e l l 1-16 was d r i l l e d on the east 

e x t r e m i t y , then Mr. Richardson was contacted t o nominate 

land i n New Mexico. 

This t h i n g grew as you d r i l l e d , because you had 

no idea how b i g i t was. I mean, 2 00,000 acres seemed l i k e 

a heck of a p r o j e c t t o s t a r t w i t h , and t h a t ' s how the w e l l s 

were — progressed and — 

Q. So i t looks l i k e d r i l l i n g s t a r t e d i n t he 

northwest and k i n d of progressed down toward the southeast? 

A. Right, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And the New Mexico leases were purchased l a t e r 

than the Arizona leases f o r t h a t reason? 

A. Oh, yeah, as much as two years l a t e r , r i g h t . As 

much as two years l a t e r . 

Q. What was the maximum amount of acreage t h a t 

Ridgeway had leased a t one point? 

A. I want t o say a t one time, roughly 550,000 acres. 

Q. And the d r i l l i n g has de l i n e a t e d t h i s proposed 

u n i t i n the — or l e t ' s say the o l d r e s e r v o i r , and so i t ' s 

been contracted since then? 

A. Right. 

MR. BRUCE: That's a l l I have, Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. Bruce. 

Mr. Carr? 
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CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Mr. Riggs, do you know where the processing 

f a c i l i t i e s are proposed t o be located? 

A. Yes, s i r . There i s a p o s s i b i l i t y t h a t they could 

be b u i l t a t Tucson E l e c t r i c , and there's also a p o s s i b i l i t y 

t h a t they could be b u i l t i n New Mexico. 

Q. The Tucson E l e c t r i c Plant i s going forward a t 

t h i s time, i s i t not? 

A. I don't know what you mean, B i l l . 

Q. Well, d i d n ' t yesterday Ridgeway Petroleum 

Corporation announce t h a t i t signed a 2 0-year c o n t r a c t w i t h 

a company c a l l e d FL0-C02, Inc., of Odessa? 

A. FL0-C02, yes. 

Q. Right, and t h a t p a r t of the arrangement was t h a t 

FL0-C02 would b u i l d a l i q u i d C02 p l a n t w i t h i n the company's 

St. Johns C0 2-helium f i e l d on the Arizona p o r t i o n of the 

p r o p e r t i e s leased and adjacent t o the Tucson E l e c t r i c 

Plant? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And t h a t was announced yesterday by your company? 

A. Right. 

Q. And t h a t ' s the f i r s t p lant? 

A. No, s i r , t h a t ' s FL0-C02's p l a n t . 

Q. Okay, but i s there a p l a n t t h a t ' s going t o be 
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processing t h i s C02 p r i o r t o t h a t one? 

A. I'm not under- — P r i o r t o t h i s p l a n t ? 

Q. Do you have other C02 sources i n Arizona? 

A. No. 

Q. So the p l a n t t h a t i s going t o be developed, b u i l t 

by FLO-C02 i s intended t o process C02 from t h i s u n i t , i s n ' t 

i t ? 

A. Yes, they are t o buy C02 from Ridgeway. 

Q. And t h a t p l a n t i s going t o be located i n the 

Arizona p o r t i o n of these p r o p e r t i e s , i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

A. Probably so, but t h a t ' s up t o them. We have 

noth i n g t o do w i t h t h a t . 

Q. And they've announced i t ' s going t o be next t o 

the Tucson E l e c t r i c Plant. I s n ' t , i n f a c t , t h a t ' s what 

Ridgeway was t e l l i n g people some time ago, i s where the 

p l a n t would be? 

A. That's where we've always i n d i c a t e d i t , because 

of the i n f r a s t r u c t u r e t h a t i s i n place t h e r e . 

Q. The announcement yesterday sai d t h a t p l a n t i s t o 

be o p e r a t i o n a l w i t h i n 12 months. Do you have any 

i n f o r m a t i o n on tha t ? 

A. No. 

Q. To be processing your C02, you're going t o have 

t o d r i l l a bunch a w e l l s i n a hurry, i n the next 12 months; 

i s n ' t t h a t r i g h t ? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

72 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. You don't — you have — you can d e l i v e r — 

A. That's a very small p l a n t . The l i q u i d C02 

business i s a small consumer. 

Q. A l l r i g h t , and so you can make those d e l i v e r i e s 

w i t h what you've got? 

A. For a hundred tons a day, yes, s i r . 

MR. CARR: Okay. That's a l l , thank you. 

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Any other questions? 

MR. BRUCE: I have nothing f u r t h e r i n t h i s case, 

Mr. Examiner. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: I s the r e anything f u r t h e r ? 

MR. CARR: I have a c l o s i n g , b r i e f . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Okay, Mr. Carr, you may go 

f i r s t . 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, Ridgeway 

i s before you seeking approval of a v o l u n t a r y u n i t f o r the 

pro d u c t i o n of carbon d i o x i d e . As you evaluate t h i s u n i t , I 

t h i n k i t ' s important f o r you t o r e a l i z e t h a t your 

j u r i s d i c t i o n i s based on the prevention of waste and the 

p r o t e c t i o n of c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . And when you t a l k about 

c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , t h a t i s defined by s t a t u t e as the 

o p p o r t u n i t y f o r each i n t e r e s t owner i n a pool t o produce 

i t s j u s t and f a i r share of the reserves i n the p o o l . 
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And so when you look a t t h i s proposal, I t h i n k 

you must weigh i t i n the context of the impact i t w i l l have 

on c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . 

Now, the outer boundary of t h i s u n i t c l e a r l y was 

formed based on g e o l o g i c a l c o n s i d e r a t i o n s . But the 

r e s e r v o i r , the C02 supply, has been d i v i d e d i n t o two p a r t s , 

not based on geology but based on ownership. And what has 

happened i s , ownership here i s c o n t r o l l i n g over g e o l o g i c a l 

c o n s i d e r a t i o n s . And the l a s t time we had a u n i t where the 

boundaries were gerrymandered based on ownership i n s t e a d of 

t e c h n i c a l c onsiderations, we had the West Lovington-Strawn 

U n i t . And we're s t i l l t r y i n g t o work our way through the 

problems t h a t , i n f a c t , s p r i n g from t h a t . 

Here we have a New Mexico u n i t , but they have 

included i n the New Mexico u n i t a plume of f e d e r a l acreage 

which extends i n t o Arizona, which i s low s t r u c t u r a l l y , 

which i s on the boundary of the u n i t . And i f t h a t acreage 

proves out not t o be as valuable as the acreage i n the top 

of the s t r u c t u r e , the area where they f i r s t develop, the 

area where they're going t o be f i r s t d e l i v e r i n g C02, i f i t 

proves not t o be as valuable, then the i n t e r e s t s t h a t are 

i n New Mexico w i l l be d i l u t e d by having m a r g i n a l l y 

p r o d u c t i v e acreage from Arizona included i n t h a t acreage. 

You've got a s t r a i g h t acreage a l l o c a t i o n , and i f 

you have a b e t t e r p o r t i o n of the r e s e r v o i r . But l i k e Mr. 
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Kiehne, i f your acreage i s then forced i n t o a u n i t where 

the prospect i s less encouraging, your c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , 

your o p p o r t u n i t y t o produce i s , i n f a c t , impaired. And the 

o p t i o n i s , go out and d r i l l your own w e l l . Go out and 

d r i l l your own w e l l and incur those costs outside the u n i t 

p l a n , a plan which everyone agreed was the e f f i c i e n t and 

app r o p r i a t e way t o go out and develop these reserves. 

We t h i n k a t t h i s time the State of New Mexico's 

O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n shouldn't have i t s lunch served 

t o i t by the BLM. They want t o put some of t h e i r f e d e r a l 

lands i n t h i s u n i t , but nowhere near a l l , and they want t o 

t e l l you what the u n i t boundary i s going t o be. 

I t seems t o me t h a t what the ap p r o p r i a t e response 

would be, would be t o simply deny the A p p l i c a t i o n and t e l l 

them t o come forward w i t h a u n i t t h a t i s based on t e c h n i c a l 

c o n s i d e r a t i o n s , based on how C02 can be produced, instead 

of who owns what. Because when you do t h a t , you w i l l be 

a c t i n g t o p r o t e c t c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . And i f you don't, 

you w i l l not. 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Thank you, Mr. Carr. 

Mr. Bruce? 

MR. BRUCE: Mr. Examiner, t h i s has nothing t o do 

w i t h c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s . Mr. Carr again c o r r e c t l y c i t e s 

the d e f i n i t i o n of c o r r e l a t i v e r i g h t s , which i s the 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o produce your e q u i t a b l e share of reserves i n 
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the r e s e r v o i r . Nothing i n t h i s proposal w i l l deny Mr. 

Kiehne the r i g h t t o go out and d r i l l on h i s p r o p e r t y , 

p e r i o d . This i s not a c o r r e l a t i v e - r i g h t s issue. 

Was t h i s formed on land reasons? Of course i t 

was. But Mr. Kiehne 1s problem i s n ' t w i t h Ridgeway, i t ' s 

w i t h the BLM. The f e d e r a l government came t o us and sai d , 

Ridgeway, form the u n i t i n t h i s fashion. Period. End of 

s t o r y . 

The State Land O f f i c e looked a t and s a i d , I t ' s 

f i n e w i t h us. This u n i t i s 80-percent f e d e r a l land, over 

15 percent s t a t e land. We have t o get t h e i r approval i n 

order t o u n i t i z e . We are j u s t f o l l o w i n g along w i t h t h e i r 

procedures. There's no question t h a t a l l of these lands 

are i n the r e s e r v o i r . 

As a matter of f a c t , i f you look a t Mr. Scott's 

s t r u c t u r a l maps, a l o t of Ridgeway's acreage i n the 

southern p a r t of t h i s u n i t looks t o be s t r u c t u r a l l y higher 

and b e t t e r than Mr. Kiehne 1s acreage. Who's being harmed, 

i f s t r u c t u r e i s the sole f a c t o r ? I t ' s Ridgeway. But 

they're w i l l i n g t o go forward w i t h i t . 

This i s a v o l u n t a r y u n i t , and no one can be 

forc e d i n t o the u n i t . The u n i t i z a t i o n w i l l not a f f e c t Mr. 

Kiehne's r i g h t s , because he need not j o i n i n t o the u n i t . 

I f he wants t o d r i l l and produce, he can enter i n t o a 

c o n t r a c t w i t h whoever i s processing gas i n t h i s area. The 
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problem i s , Mr. Kiehne doesn't want t o go spend any money 

t o d r i l l any w e l l s . That's i t i n a n u t s h e l l . 

This u n i t deserves approval, and we ask t h a t the 

D i v i s i o n approve t h i s u n i t . 

EXAMINER STOGNER: Anything f u r t h e r i n t h i s 

matter? 

With t h a t , then Case Number 12,161, I b e l i e v e i t 

i s , w i l l be taken under advisement. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

11:12 a.m.) 

H» hereby certify that the forecoing i. 
« complete record of the proceeding* In 

Examiner WlnoLof Case No. , 

Examiner 
telart 
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